# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# CASE NO. SC11-877

# LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 87-2719-CF-A-W

#### **INTRODUCTION**

On November 30, 2009, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). There, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's *Strickland* analysis which appeared in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the Supreme Court was required to give some deference to this Court's application of *Strickland*. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued to George Porter if this Court's *Strickland* analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter v. McCollum* must be read.

Mr. Ponticelli's current appeal requires this Court to engage in an introspective look at the import of the decision in *Porter v.*McCollum and consider whether its own unreasonable analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration or was it in fact indicative of a systemic failure by this Court to properly understanding and apply *Strickland*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

In the relatively recent past, this Court has on two occasions assessed the effect to be accorded to a decision by the Supreme Court finding that this Court had misapprehended and misapplied Supreme Court precedent. In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this Court had failed to properly apply *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), and find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances when returning an advisory verdict in a capital penalty phase proceeding. <sup>2</sup> In *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), the Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by this Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory. <sup>3</sup>

Following the decisions in *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, this Court was called upon to address whether other death sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional law. On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness dictated that those, who had not received from this Court the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987)("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the United States Supreme Court to determine that this Court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The United States Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Espinosa v. Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the United States Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

Mr. Ponticelli, whose ineffective assistance of counsel claims were heard and decided by this Court before *Porter v. McCollum* was rendered, seeks in this appeal what George Porter received. Mr. Ponticelli seeks to have his ineffectiveness claims reheard and re-evaluated using the proper *Strickland* standard that the United States Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find a re-sentencing was warranted. Mr. Ponticelli seeks the benefit of the same rule of law that was applied to Mr. Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Mr. Ponticelli seeks the proper application of the *Strickland* standard. Mr. Ponticelli seeks to be treated equally and fairly.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Ponticelli was indicted on January 4, 1988, with two counts of first-degree murder and one count of armed robbery (R. 1375-6).

Mr. Ponticelli pled not guilty (R. 1385).

Mr. Ponticelli's capital jury trial commenced on August 9, 1988. After the State rested, the trial court granted the defense's motion for judgment of acquittal as to the armed robbery count (R. 941). Guilty verdicts were returned on both counts of first degree murder on August 12, 1988. The penalty phase began on August 18, 1988. That same day, the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of nine to three for each of the murders (R. 1371-2). A sentencing hearing was held on September 6, 1988, at which time Mr. Ponticelli was sentenced to death for the two counts of first degree murder (R. 1849-51).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Ponticelli's convictions and sentences. Ponticelli v. State, 593 So. 2d 483 (Fla. 1991).

After filing a writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court, the Court vacated the judgment and remanded for further consideration in light of *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992). *Ponticelli v. Florida*, 506 U.S. 802 (1992).

This Court found Mr. Ponticelli's challenge procedurally barred. Ponticelli v. State, 618 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1993).

A motion to vacate sentence pursuant to Rule 3.850 was filed on April 11, 1995 (Supp. PC-R. 1-60).

A *Huff* hearing was held and the lower court entered an order granting a limited evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 321-401; Supp. PC-R. 1673-93).

On July 10, 2000, an evidentiary hearing commenced. Following the hearing, the lower court entered an order denying all relief on November 1, 2002 (Supp. PC-R. 1736-60).

Mr. Ponticelli appealed to this Court. Simultaneously, with his appeal, Mr. Ponticelli filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus. This Court denied all relief on August 31, 2006. *Ponticelli v. State*, 941 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a re-sentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

While Mr. Ponticelli's case was on appeal before this Court, Mr. Ponticelli filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion, based on the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Ring v. Arizona*. The circuit court denied relief, as did this Court. *See* Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC03-1655.

In May, 2007, Mr. Ponticelli filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion based on recently disclosed documents he obtained from the Office of the State Attorney and the Department of Corrections (PC-R2. 10-48).

In late 2007, Mr. Ponticelli instituted federal habeas corpus proceedings before the Federal District Court for the Middle District of Florida.

A state court evidentiary hearing was held before the circuit court on October 1, 2008, on Mr. Ponticelli's successive Rule 3.851 motion.

On March 16, 2009, the circuit court entered an order denying Mr. Ponticelli's amended successive Rule 3.851 motion (PC-R 2. 879-889).

Mr. Ponticelli appealed to this Court (PC-R 2. 949-50). On November 10, 2010, this Court entered an order affirming the circuit court's denial of relief. *See* Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC09-992.

Shortly before this Court had entered its order on Mr. Ponticelli's first successive Rule 3.851 motion, he filed a second successive Rule 3.851 motion based upon *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009) (PC-R3. 1-34). On December 16, 2010, the State responded (PC-R3. 60-88). The circuit court held a case management conference on February 23, 2011. Thereafter, on April 1, 2011, the circuit court denied Mr. Ponticelli's motion. Mr. Ponticelli timely filed a notice of appeal.

In May, 2011, the federal district court denied Mr. Ponticelli's petition for writ of habeas corpus. Mr. Ponticelli is currently appealing three issues before the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

# A. THE TRIAL RECORD

Mr. Ponticelli was indicted for two counts of first-degree murder and one count of armed robbery on January 4, 1988 (R. 1375-6).

On February 23, 1988, five and a half months before Mr. Ponticelli's capital trial, James Reich was appointed to represent Mr. Ponticelli (R. 1400-1).

On June 6, 1988, trial counsel file a Motion for Appointment of Expert Witnesses in which he stated:

- 1. Discovery depositions of three essential or extremely important witnesses for the State of Florida in this cause have disclosed that the Defendant, for approximately one month prior to November 27<sup>th</sup>, 1997 was, on a daily basis ingesting large amounts of Cocaine, both "Crack" and powder.
- 2. The evidence of such use and the apparent effect of the same upon Defendant has been disclosed by the following State witnesses:
- a. Joseph Leonard: This witness testified ... that sometime in September or October, 1987, Defendant accompanied his parents to the State of New York and was there for approximately four to six weeks. After the Defendant returned from this visit this witness, for the first time, learned that the Defendant was using crack cocaine and Defendant's behavior and personality changed substantially.

\* \* \*

- 3. Defendant is charged in this cause with two counts of First Degree Murder which requires proof by the State of Florida of premeditation by Defendant.
- 4. The undersigned believes that the Defendant, due to the drug use as set forth above, was, on November 27<sup>th</sup>, 1987 incapable of "premeditating" any act and was incapable of forming the intent necessary to constitute First Degree Murder.
- 5. A person who is an expert in the area of the effect of cocaine on mental processes is necessary to the reasonable defense outlined above in order to give Defendant the opportunity to effectively present said defense to the jury in this cause.

(R. 1408-9). The court granted the defense's request (R. 1411).

The following month, trial counsel filed a Motion for Psychiatric Examination requesting that the court appoint experts to determine whether Mr. Ponticelli was competent to proceed (R. 1413-5). The court appointed experts (R. 1416).

On July 25, a few weeks before trial, the defense filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Insanity Defense (R. 1424-5).

A competency hearing was held on August 2, 1988 (R. 1176-1217). Dr. Mills testified that Mr. Ponticelli was not competent to stand trial because of Mr. Ponticelli's delusional thinking and the fact that "his associations were loose"; one thought was not tracking logically upon the other (R. 1183). Dr. Mills concluded that Mr. Ponticelli was suffering from a psychosis that prevented him from assisting his attorney (R. 1186).

While Dr. Poetter believed Mr. Ponticelli was competent he found that Mr. Ponticelli was in denial and that his denial was a way of coping with the stress of the trial (R. 1198). Dr. Poetter testified that "emotionally I doubt that [Mr. Ponticelli] really is aware that he could be sentenced to death" and thus, Mr. Ponticelli was mildly impaired (R. 1202). The fact that Mr. Ponticelli was not communicating with his trial counsel was based on his religious beliefs and his denial of his situation (R. 1203). Dr. Poetter testified that Mr. Ponticelli believed that he was helping himself by not saying anything and that every decision was affected by his thinking process (R. 1205).

Dr. Krop testified that he believed Mr. Ponticelli was competent to stand trial (R. 1211). Like Dr. Poetter, Dr. Krop believed that Mr. Ponticelli's denial of his situation was his way of coping (R. 1213). Dr. Krop stated that this coping mechanism was inappropriate because it did not allow him to assist his attorney (R. 1214). The court found that Mr. Ponticelli was competent (R. 1217).

On August 9, 1988, Mr. Ponticelli's capital trial commenced. During voir dire, the court and defense counsel told the jury that there may be a defense of insanity (R. 66). The State also raised the issue of cocaine or drug use (R. 104).

During trial counsel's opening statement he told the jury:

In the process of this trial, you will discover that there are inconsistencies; that there are contradictions; that there are some outright lies; that the evidence against Tony Ponticelli is insufficient to constitute proof beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that he, from a premeditated design, to effect the death of Nicholas and Ralph Grandinetti, shot them.

I submit to you that the evidence will not demonstrate, and that the evidence will not show that the State has proven beyond a reasonable doubt the elements of those offenses.

#### (R. 292). However, trial counsel also went on to state:

The evidence will show that approximately two weeks before the deaths of Nicholas and Ralph Grandinetti, beginning around that period of time, not only was Tony Ponticelli using cocaine that he got from the Grandinettis, he was using cocaine that he secured from another source in Oklawaha. The cocaine that he was getting from Oklawaha was in the form of what they call crack.

On the night that Nicholas and Ralph Grandinetti were murdered, Tony Ponticelli was on what the Mental Health profession calls "a run". He was pulling a cocaine train, or it was pushing him, but in any event, had, at that time, been using cocaine to the extent that his mental processes, his physical condition was such that he was set up for a psychotic episode.

You will hear what cocaine does to you. You will hear what a small amount of cocaine does to you. You will hear what a lot of cocaine does to you, and it's not pretty.

... First of all, that the elements of first degree murder have not been proven; second of all, that there is a reasonable doubt as to whether or not Tony Ponticelli shot Nicholas and Ralph Grandinetti.

The evidence is going to establish that there is reason to believe that there is at least, at the very least, a reasonable doubt as to the mental state, that is the insanity of Tony Ponticelli at the time that Nicholas and Ralph Grandinetti were killed.

\* \* \*

[W]hile there is reasonable doubt as to who did the killings, . . . there is no reason not to believe that Tony Ponticelli, whatever he did that night, whatever role he played in the deaths of Nicholas and Ralph Grandinetti, that he was not legally sane . . .

(R. 293-5).

The evidence at trial included testimony that in the morning hours, on the Saturday following Thanksgiving, Ellzey Harrington saw a red car near his house (R. 305). Later that afternoon, Harrington approached the car and found two individuals, later identified as Nicholas and Ralph Grandinetti (R. 310).

After an investigator arrived from the Marion County Sheriff's Department, it was determined that Ralph Grandinetti was dead (R. 321). Nicholas Grandinetti was transported to the hospital for treatment (R. 351).

The following day an autopsy occurred of Ralph Grandinetti (R. 363). Dr. Sanderson, M.D., concluded that Ralph Grandinetti "died from the gunshot wound to the head" (R. 374).

Investigator Bruce Munster was assigned to investigate the offense as the lead detective. He spoke to Timothy Keesee because Keesee owned the car in which the Grandinetti's were found and also lived with them (R. 780). Keesee told him that Tony Ponticelli had been with the brothers on the night before the car was found (R. 782).

At trial Keesee testified he returned from a trip out of town on the Friday evening, following Thanksgiving, about 7:30 p.m. (R. 415-6). Keesee was accompanied by his brother, Roger, who was in the Navy at that time (R. 416). Tony Ponticelli, whom he knew from Mr. Ponticelli's coming to purchase cocaine from the Grandinetti's was present at the trailer along with Nicholas and Ralph (R. 416). Mr. Ponticelli had purchased large quantities of cocaine from the Grandinettis for the last few weeks, sometimes two or three times a day (R. 426-7).

Keesee told the jury: "They were discussing money that Tony had owed them for..." (R. 416). Mr. Ponticelli indicated that he would raise money by helping the brothers sell drugs (R. 417). Ralph "told [Tony] to make the calls" and handed Tony the phone (R. 417). Keesee remembered that Ralph was "pushy" and "insistent" with Mr. Ponticelli (R. 436-7); "It was apparent that Ralph wanted money" (R. 443). Keesee also observed that Mr. Ponticelli was nervous, but he told the jury that Mr. Ponticelli did not want to be taken home because he wanted to find a way to pay them that night (R. 419, 442).

Keesee admitted that there was cocaine at the trailer on that evening, however, he testified:

Q: While you were there, you stated that there was some cocaine on the table. Did you, yourself, see anybody — any of the people partake of any of that cocaine?

A: No.

(R. 420). Keesee and his brother left the trailer at approximately 8:30 p.m. (R. 420). When Keesee returned that evening the brothers were not there (R. 421).

Due to Keesee's information, Inv. Munster interviewed Mr. Ponticelli on Saturday evening and Mr. Ponticelli told him that he had been with the Grandinetti's earlier in the evening on Friday night but had left them at about 9:30 p.m. (R. 783).

Subsequently, Mr. Ponticelli made serval more statements to Inv. Munster (Supp. R. 15-8; 32-5; 42).

Inv. Munster then interviewed Joey Leonard about a firearm (R. 832). Leonard testified for the State at Mr. Ponticelli's trial.

Leonard explained that he knew Mr. Ponticelli for a few years and in early November, 1987, Mr. Ponticelli paid for a tattoo for Leonard (R. 608). In exchange for the tattoo Leonard loaned Mr. Ponticelli a gun, a .22 (R. 608).

On the Friday after Thanksgiving, Mr. Ponticelli called Leonard and requested a ride at about 8:30 p.m. (R. 610-1). At the time, Mr. Ponticelli told Leonard that he was with Nicholas Grandinetti (R. 611). At approximately 9:30 p.m., Mr. Ponticelli stopped by Leonard's home and gave him the gun back and told him that he "did Nick" (R. 611). Bobby Meade was also present during the conversation (R. 613).

On Saturday, Leonard spoke to Mr. Ponticelli who told him that he: "did Nick, his brother" (R. 616). Mr. Ponticelli also explained that Nick and his brother were harassing Tony for money and were not going to let him leave their house unless he paid them \$175 (R. 617). Mr. Ponticelli also told Leonard that the three of them were driving around trying to sell cocaine and he shot the Grandinettis (R. 619). Mr. Ponticelli did not know why he had shot the Grandinettis (R. 623).

Robert Meade also testified about the Friday following Thanksgiving. Meade recalled that Mr. Ponticelli arrived between 9:00 and 9:30 p.m. at Leonard's house (R. 574). Meade testified similarly to Leonard as he told the jury that Mr. Ponticelli gave Leonard the gun back and told them that he had killed Nick (R. 575). Mr. Ponticelli told them that the Grandinettis had "roughed him up" (R. 596).

The day that Inv. Munster interviewed Leonard and Meade, Nicholas Grandinetti died (R. 836). Dr. Maruniak performed the autopsy the following day. The cause of death was cardiac arrest due to the gunshot wounds (R. 398).

A few weeks after Mr. Ponticelli's arrest, Dennis Freeman contacted Inv. Munster and told him that he had information about the case (R. 846-7). Freeman later provided Inv. Munster with a map that Mr. Ponticelli had drawn which led to Dotson's house (850). Freeman provided the phone number of Ron Halsey (R. 851).

At trial Keith Dotson testified for the State. Dotson told the jury that he met Mr. Ponticelli on the Friday following Thanksgiving around 5:00 p.m. (R. 511-2). Dotson explained that his cousins and a friend were visiting and that they were going to watch movies if Mr. Ponticelli wanted to join them (R. 512).

Dotson testified that Mr. Ponticelli arrived at his house around 6:30 p.m., while they were watching Scar Face (R. 512-3). Mr. Ponticelli stayed for thirty minutes, but returned an hour or so later (R. 513-4). Dotson recalled that about an hour later, at 8:30 p.m., Mr. Ponticelli again returned and told him that he had "killed two guys" for money and cocaine (R. 517). Mr. Ponticelli also requested that he be allowed to wash his clothes (R. 517). Dotson did not see any money or cocaine (R. 517).

Dotson testified that Mr. Ponticelli was acting "freaked out" or "hyped up" (R. 520, 532). After they washed his clothes, they drove Mr. Ponticelli home (R. 521).

Dotson's cousin, Ed Brown, who was from West Virginia, was also present at Dotson's house over Thanksgiving weekend (R. 465). Brown testified that on the Friday following Thanksgiving, at 7:30 p.m., Mr. Ponticelli stopped by the Dotson house while they were watching Scar Face (R. 469-70). Brown testified:

Q: During your stay in Florida anytime earlier that week, had you ever seen Mr. Ponticelli? A: No ma'am.

(R. 469). Mr. Ponticelli watched the movie for thirty minutes and then left (R. 473). Mr. Ponticelli returned after dark in a car and stated that he was going to kill two guys (R. 473-4). At that time, Brown also saw a gun (R. 474). Mr. Ponticelli also asked if they could give him a ride later that night (R. 474). Brown testified that Dotson got his shotgun and the group agreed not to answer the phone if it rang (R. 476).

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