### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY JOHN PONTICELLI,

Appellant,

v. Case No. SC11-877

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

Kenneth S. Nunnelley
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
Telephone: (386) 238-4990
Facsimile: (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

FN34. Dr. Crown testified that "cocaine kindling" is a disorder in which the brain's neurotransmitters are altered in such a way as to allow the cocaine to have a greater effect in a shorter period of time. This is very prevalent in chronic cocaine users, especially those who had some brain damage before using cocaine and who began using cocaine during adolescence. Crown testified that his report was supported by Ponticelli's reports that he suffered headaches immediately following his incarceration.

The State's expert, Dr. Thomas Conger, disagreed with the other mental health experts. In Dr. Conger's opinion, Ponticelli exhibited unusual religious beliefs, but these beliefs did not constitute a delusion. Dr. Conger pointed to portions of the record that indicated Ponticelli had the ability to communicate with counsel. For example, Ponticelli stated, "That's false right there" to defense counsel when Dr. Krop made a statement at the competency hearing that Ponticelli disagreed with, and \*1101 defense counsel's notes indicated that Ponticelli had called counsel from jail and provided him with the name of two potential mitigating witnesses.

Three former cellmates also testified to Ponticelli's strange behavior at the time of trial. They testified that they often saw Ponticelli pacing in his cell, at times with a cloth over his head, and constantly reading his Bible and praying. An inventory of his jail cell at the time of trial revealed eight Bibles; several friends and family members testified that Ponticelli wrote them letters from jail that were fragmented uncharacteristically religious; and defense counsel testified that Ponticelli's bizarre behavior continued throughout trial. Ponticelli's sister testified at the evidentiary hearing that Ponticelli's father fundamental in his religious beliefs, but she had never known Ponticelli to be.

There was also testimony regarding defense counsel's strategy in this case and whether counsel was ineffective for not further investigating Ponticelli's mental health at the time of the crimes. FN35 Counsel testified that he had two theories in regard to Ponticelli's defense: (1) an acquittal based on insanity or cocaine psychosis; and second-degree murder based on the voluntary intoxication defense. At the time of trial, counsel truly believed he had all the evidence available to him, and he argued the alternative theories of cocaine psychosis and reasonable doubt during his opening statement because he had no evidence Ponticelli was under the influence of cocaine at the time of the offense. He testified that he would not have conceded that Ponticelli met the West Virginia boys four hours before the homicide if he had known the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing. He also testified that he would not have made statements allegedly vouching for the state investigator's credibility if he had known the state investigator had withheld evidence. FN36 Counsel also admitted that he did not follow up on Dr. Branch's suggestion to obtain a clinical mental health expert to testify at trial, even though Dr. Poettner gave him the name of an expert before trial.

FN35. Much of the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing regarding Ponticelli's mental health is summarized in the discussion of the facts surrounding Ponticelli's ability to establish ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase.

FN36. The appellant's brief alleges that trial counsel vouched for the state investigator's credibility many times at trial, but it fails to provide a specific citation. Because the trial court's November 1, 2002, order cites to the following two statements, we will address this part of Ponticelli's claim.

The first statement came in the context of a situation in which defense counsel objected to the State's motion to introduce an exhibit during the state investigator's testimony. Defense counsel stated:

Judge I think it's pretty clear the [exhibit] has not been tied to the defendant by anything or anybody else .... I'm certain [the state investigator] found it out there where he says he found it, but that particular [exhibit] has not been tied to the defendant in this charge. It's immaterial, it's irrelevant, and at this point hasn't been shown to be either material or relevant.

The second cited statement came during defense counsel's cross-examination of the state investigator when defense counsel stated:

You probably couldn't remember Investigator .... This thing is 135 pages long, so I'm not surprised that you don't remember. Let me see if I can refresh your memory a little bit.

### 2. Standard of Review and Applicable Law

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel during the pretrial and guilt phases are reviewed under Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052. To establish this claim, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient in that it "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness," Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052), and that "counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Failure to establish either deficiency or prejudice results in a denial of the claim. Ferrell, 918 So. 2d at 172-73. Because the trial court denied these claims after

an evidentiary hearing, this Court "review[s] the deficiency and prejudice prongs as 'mixed questions of law and fact subject to a de novo review standard but ... the trial court's factual findings are to be given deference.' "Arbelaez, 898 So. 2d at 32 (quoting Sochor, 883 So. 2d at 781).

### 3. Analysis

For the reasons explained below, we find that none of the five allegations Ponticelli raises here constitute ineffective assistance under *Strickland*.

Ponticelli's first claim alleges that counsel ineffective for waiting until a month before trial to file his motion for psychiatric evaluation and for failing to obtain jail records and to interview cellmates who would have provided additional information regarding Ponticelli's strange behavior. This claim is without merit. Ponticelli has not presented sufficient evidence overcome the strong presumption that counsel's representation was reasonable. See State v. Duncan, 894 So. 2d 817, 823 (Fla. 2004) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, and recognizing that "[t]he defendant alone carries the burden to overcome the presumption of effective assistance"). He has provided no evidence that it was unreasonable for defense counsel to file his motion for a psychiatric evaluation a month before trial; in fact, counsel testified that he filed this motion as soon as he noticed Ponticelli consistently refusing to speak with him about the case. Furthermore, Ponticelli has provided no evidence that the mental health evaluations were inadequate because of lack of time or inadequate information. While the mental health experts who testified at the evidentiary hearing disputed one or two of the tests conducted or the results obtained in some of the 1988 mental health evaluations, none testified that all of the evaluations were inadequate. In fact, the 1988 evaluations took a similar amount of time and relied on similar tests as those conducted in preparation for the evidentiary hearing. Even Dr. Krop, who changed his opinion at the evidentiary hearing based on information largely not available to defense counsel the time of trial, testified that his initial evaluation was adequate. Furthermore, there is no evidence Ponticelli's former cellmates revealed anything significant that the experts did not know when they evaluated Ponticelli. The cellmates' testimony was not a factor Dr. Krop pointed to when he decided to change his opinion. Having established neither deficiency nor prejudice, Ponticelli has not established counsel was ineffective in regard to this claim.

Ponticelli's second claim alleges that counsel was ineffective for taking inconsistent positions during opening argument without adequately investigating and supporting his voluntary intoxication defense. Ponticelli claims this action was per se ineffective because, in essence, counsel conceded Ponticelli's guilt.

In its November 3, 1998, order, the trial court found that defense counsel did not concede that Ponticelli committed the homicides, but the trial court permitted Ponticelli to question defense counsel about making a potentially inconsistent argument\*1103 at the evidentiary hearing. Defense counsel testified that he presented alternative positions in his opening argument because he planned to present both defenses but was unable to do so when Dr. Branch's testimony was excluded because Ponticelli refused to discuss his cocaine use around the time of the crimes. The trial court ultimately denied this claim, finding counsel's approach was reasonable strategy and that Ponticelli's refusal to speak about his drug use prevented counsel from establishing the voluntary intoxication defense. This finding is supported by competent, substantial evidence; therefore, we affirm the trial court's holding that Ponticelli has failed to establish deficiency. See Brown v. State, 846 So. 1114, 1125 (Fla. 2003) (citing Johnson v. State, 769 So. 2d 990, 1001 (Fla. 2000), for the proposition that "this Court will not second-guess counsel's strategic decisions on collateral attack"); see also Brown v. State, 894 So. 2d 137, 146 (Fla. 2004) (quoting Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1050 (Fla. 2000), for the proposition that "the reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's statements or actions").

We also affirm the trial court's finding that even if defense counsel was deficient, Ponticelli has not established prejudice. Neither Dr. Krop, Dr. Crown, nor Dr. Herkov, who had all the evidence Ponticelli claims defense counsel was deficient for not obtaining, testified at the evidentiary hearing that Ponticelli was

insane at the time of the murders. Moreover, because Dr. Branch was not qualified to testify to cocaine psychosis even if counsel could have provided him with the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing regarding Ponticelli's significant drug history, he would not have been able to testify to this at trial. The fact that the jury did not hear his testimony does not undermine our confidence in the verdict. We affirm the trial court's denial of this claim.

Ponticelli's third claim alleges that counsel ineffective for conceding the truthfulness of the West Virginia boys' testimony, the state investigator's credibility, and the truth of Freeman's statements. Ponticelli claims this action, in effect, entered a guilty plea without Ponticelli's consent and was per se ineffective. The trial court denied Ponticelli's claim regarding the West Virginia boys' testimony because even if counsel vouched for their credibility, there is no indication this was unreasonable because counsel did not know their statements were untruthful. The trial court also denied Ponticelli's claim regarding the state investigator because defense counsel did not vouch for the state investigator's credibility, and even if he did, Ponticelli has not established that this was unreasonable or resulted in prejudice. The trial court's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence.

Counsel was not aware that Brown and Burgess testified falsely, as both men testified at the evidentiary hearing that they never told defense counsel about the cocaine party. Furthermore, defense counsel's statements to and about the state investigator during trial do not indicate that defense counsel was vouching for the investigator's credibility, and Ponticelli has not established that the investigator was not credible.

Finally, in regard to Freeman's statements, the trial court did not address this claim, but we find it without merit. As we explained in regard to Ponticelli's Brady and Giglio claims, Freeman's credibility and capacity for truthfulness were significantly impeached by defense counsel at trial. Moreover, his testimony was corroborated by the evidence presented at trial. We do not find counsel's conduct deficient given the context of these statements and the circumstances at trial. Therefore, we deny this claim.

Ponticelli's fourth claim alleges that counsel was ineffective for allowing the state investigator to be excluded from the rule of witness sequestration. In its November 1, 2002, order, the trial court determined that defense counsel had made a strategic decision not to object to the state investigator's presence in the courtroom because defense counsel had no basis to object. Ponticelli has not established that this strategy was unreasonable. The trial court has great discretion regarding the rule of sequestration, and this Court has more than once upheld the trial court's decision to permit a state detective to sit through trial. See, e.g., Knight v. State, 746 So. 2d 423, 430 (Fla. 1998) (finding trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting State's motion to allow a detective to remain in the courtroom when investigator was a fact witness); see also Randolph v. State, 463 So. 2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1984) (recognizing that the "rule of witness sequestration is not an absolute rule," and that trial court did not abuse its "sound judicial discretion" in allowing the state investigator to remain in the courtroom because the investigator was not "a principal actor in the crime," or a witness whose testimony "was actually suggested by what he heard in the courtroom").

Furthermore, even if counsel should have objected, Ponticelli has not established that the presence of the state investigator prejudiced him. While Turner testified at the evidentiary hearing that he felt intimidated by the state investigator's presence, there is no evidence the investigator did anything at trial that affected Turner's testimony. In fact, the state investigator's presence did not prevent Turner from testifying to Ponticelli's significant cocaine use in the weeks immediately preceding the homicides. Ponticelli has not established that the state investigator would have been excluded upon defense counsel's objection or that a reasonable probability exists that this exclusion "led to an improper conviction." Randolph, 463 So. 2d at 192 ("We cannot say that the presence of [the detective] in the courtroom led to an improper conviction."). Therefore, his claim was properly denied.

Ponticelli's fifth claim alleges counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper prosecutorial comments and the admission of inflammatory and prejudicial evidence lacking in relevance and for failing to competently cross-examine witnesses. These claims are legally insufficient because Ponticelli has not alleged how he was prejudiced by each of these deficiencies. See Waterhouse v. State, 792 So. 2d 1176, 1181 n. 10 (Fla. 2001) (finding procedurally barred claims couched as conclusory allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel were facially insufficient where the defendant did not allege how he was prejudiced by the failure to object).

Ponticelli v. State, 941 So. 2d 1073, 1094-1104 (Fla. 2006)

Ponticelli fails to explain how any misapplication of the *Strickland* standard would impact his case. *Troy v. State*, 57 So.3d 828, 834 (Fla. 2011) ("To successfully prove a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, both prongs of the *Strickland* test must be satisfied."). Ponticelli's claim fails for lack of prejudice because:

- (1) The successive motion was untimely, successive, and procedurally barred;
  - (2) Porter not a retroactive change in the law; and
- (3) This Court's Strickland analysis on prejudice is not flawed.

#### Untimely, successive, and procedurally barred.

Ponticelli's convictions and sentences became final on October 13, 1993, when the United States Supreme Court denied his petition for certiorari review. *Ponticelli v. Florida*, 510 U.S. 935, 114 S.Ct. 352, 126 L.Ed.2d 316 (1993). *Fla. R. Crim. P.* 3.851(d)(1)(B) (judgment becomes final "on the disposition of the petition for

writ of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court").

Ponticelli's successive Rule 3.851 motion, filed in 2010, is
untimely filed - by almost twenty (20) years.

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